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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

casenNo. 07-81161-CIV-ZLOCH/SNOW

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, FILEDby JC D.C.

ELECTRONIC

Plaintiff,

v DEC. 7, 2007

CLARENCE MADDOX
CLERK U.S. DIST. CT.
S.D. OF FLA.- MIAMI

VIRGIL G. WILLIAMS,

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
Defendant. )
)

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission alleges as follows:

I. INTRODUCTION

1. This matter concerns a fraudulent scheme orchestrated by Defendant Virgil P.
Williams to manipulate the market for Asgard Holdings, Inc. stock in violation of the federal
securities laws.

2. Between April and August 2007, Williams participated in a scheme in which he
agreed to pay an illegal kickback to a purported West Palm Beach, Florida-based hedge fund
advisor to induce the hedge fund to purchase shares of Asgard Holdings stock. Unbeknownst to
Williams, the person posing as the corrupt hedge fund investment advisor was actually an
undercover FBI agent.

3. Williams is the CEO of Asgard Holdings who was trying to solicit interest in
purchasing Asgard Holdings stock. Williams orchestrated a plan by which he agreed to pay the
agent posing as the investment adviser 25% of the proceeds from the hedge fund’s purchase of

Asgard Holdings shares as a kickback.
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4. By virtue of his conduct, Williams violated Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of
1933 (“Securities Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a); and Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) and 17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5.

5. The Commission requests the Court to enter (1) a permanent injunction
restraining and enjoining Williams from violating the federal securities laws, (2) an order
directing Williams to pay civil money penalties, (3) an order barring Williams from participating
in any offering of penny stock, and (4) an order barring Williams from serving as an officer or

director of a public company.

II. DEFENDANT AND RELEVANT ENTITY

A. Defendant
6. Williams, 59, resides in Escondido, California. He is the CEO of Asgard
Holdings.

B. Relevant Entity

7. Asgard Holdings is a Nevada-based corporation with its main offices in
Escondido, California. The company is an investment firm. In September 2006, Asgard
Holdings filed with the Commission a Form 15 Certification and Notice of Termination of
Registration under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act. Asgard Holdings (symbol “AGHG”) now
trades only on the “gray market,” which commonly designates securities that are not quoted in
any quotation service or traded on any stock exchange. In March 2007, Asgard Holdings was
suspended from trading for 14 days in connection with questions about the adequacy or accuracy

of its press releases. In the Matter of Certain Companies Quoted on the Pink Sheets, Exchange

Act Release No. 55420.
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8. Asgard Holdings’s stock is penny stock. Section 3(a)(51) and Rule 3a51-1 of the
Exchange Act define a penny stock as any equity security, other than those securities that are
specifically excluded in Rules 3a51-1(a)-(g). The Asgard Holdings stock does not qualify for
any of the exclusions, and at all times relevant to this Complaint was priced at less than $5. In
addition, it did not have net tangible assets or average revenues in excess of $2,000,000 to
qualify for the exclusion in Rule 3a51-1(g).

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

9. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 20(d) and 22(a) of
the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(d) and 77v(a); and Sections 21(d) and 27 of the Exchange
Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d) and 78aa.

10.  This Court has personal jurisdiction over Williams, and venue is proper in the
Southern District of Florida, because many of Williams’ acts and transactions constituting
violations of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act occurred in the Southern District of
Florida. For example, the agent was located in West Palm Beach, Florida.

11.  In connection with the conduct alleged in this Complaint, Williams, directly or
indirectly, singly or in concert with others, has made use of the means or instrumentalities of
interstate commerce, the means or instruments of transportation and communication in interstate
commerce, and the mails.

IV. THE FRAUDULENT SCHEME

12. On April 17, 2007, Williams contacted the agent and asked him to purchase
Asgard Holdings stock. The shares were owned by another individual affiliated with Asgard
Holdings (“Stock Owner”). Williams agreed to pay the agent 25% of the price the agent’s hedge

fund paid as a kickback to induce the purchase of these shares.
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13. On April 18, 2007, Williams provided the agent with his broker’s contact
information so the broker could arrange matched trades to ensure the agent bought the Stock
Owner’s shares rather than shares off the street.

14. Also on April 18, 2007, the agent informed Williams he owed a fiduciary duty to
the hedge fund and therefore the kickback must be concealed from the clients. Williams then
agreed to create a phony consulting fee agreement to conceal the kickback.

15. Williams prepared the bogus consulting agreement between a company Williams
appears to control and a fictitious consulting company created by the agent.

16. On April 24, 2007, the agent contacted the Stock Owner to discuss purchasing the
shares. On April 25, 2007, the Stock Owner contacted the agent and indicated he was
uncomfortable with the deal because he did not want to take part in any illegal activity. On April
27, 2007, Williams withdrew from the deal, explaining he was told by a securities attorney that
he could be involved in a sting operation.

17. On July 23, 2007, Williams contacted the agent again to induce him to purchase
the Stock Owner’s shares of Asgard Holding stock. Williams and the agent agreed to use the
previously executed bogus consulting agreement for this transaction.

18. On August 8, 2007, the agent used an E-Trade account to purchase a total of 2
million shares of Asgard Holdings stock at $.015 per share. These trades were publicly reported.
Asgard Holdings had traded only 172,000 shares in the preceding month, and the hedge fund’s
purchase was the only trade of Asgard Holdings stock on August 8, 2007.

19. On August 14, 2007, a Florida corporation believed to be controlled by Williams
wired the kickback in the amount of $7,500 (25% of 2,000,000 shares at $.015 per share) to the

agent’s phony consulting company.
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COUNT I
Fraud In Violation of Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act
20.  The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 19 of its Complaint.
21.  Between April and August 2007, Williams directly and indirectly, by use of the,
means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce and by use of
the mails, in the offer or sale of securities, as described in this Complaint, knowingly, willfully or
recklessly employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud.

22. By reason of the foregoing, Williams, directly and indirectly, have violated and,
unless enjoined, will continue to violate Section 17(a)(l) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §77q(a).
COUNT II
Fraud in Violation of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act

23. The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 19 of its Complaint.

24.  Between April and August 2007, Williams, directly and indirectly, by use of the
means and instrumentality of interstate commerce, and of the mails in connection with the
purchase or sale of securities, knowingly, willfully or recklessly: (a) employed devices, schemes
or artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of material facts and omitted to state material
facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading; or (c) engaged in acts, practices and courses of business
which have operated, are now operating and will operate as a fraud upon the purchasers of such
securities.

25. By reason of the foregoing, Williams has directly or indirectly violated and,
unless enjoined, will continue to violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b),

and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.
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RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court:
I.

Declaratory Relief

Declare, determine, and find that Williams has committed the violations of the federal
securities laws alleged in this Complaint.
1L

Permanent Injunctive Relief

Issue a Permanent Injunction restraining and enjoining Williams, his officers, agents,
servants, employees, attorneys, and all persons in active concert or participation with him, from
violating Section 17(a) of the Securities Act and Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange
Act, as indicated above.

I1I.
Penalty

Issue an Order directing Williams to pay civil money penalties pursuant to Section 20(d)
of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d); and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §
78(d)(3).

IV.

Penny Stock Bar

Issue an Order barring Williams from participating in any offering of penny stock,
pursuant to Section 20(g) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(g), and Section 21(d) of the

Exchange Act,15 U.S.C. § 78u(d), for the violations alleged in this Complaint.
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V.

Officer and Director Bar

Issue an Order pursuant to Section 21(d)(2) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(2),
barring Williams from acting as an officer or director of a publicly held company.
VL

Further Relief

Grant such other and further relief as may be necessary and appropriate.
VIL

Retention of Jurisdiction

Further, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court retain jurisdiction over this
action in order to implement and carry out the terms of all orders and decrees that it may enter, or
to entertain any suitable application or motion by the Commission for additional relief within the

jurisdiction of this Court.
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December 7, 2007
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Respectfully submitted,

“Amic Riggle Berlin
Senior Trial Counsel
Florida Bar No. 0630020
Direct Dial: (305) 982-6322
berlina@sec.gov

Thierry Olivier Desmet
Branch Chief

Florida Bar No. 0143863
Direct Dial: (305) 982-6374

Brian P. Knight

Senior Counsel

Florida Bar No. 0993662
Direct Dial: (305) 982-6385

Attorneys for Plaintiff
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION

801 Brickell Avenue, Suite 1800
Miami, Florida 33131

Telephone: (305) 982-6300
Facsimile: (305) 536-4154
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